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History, Heroism, and Narrative Desire: The “Aubrac
Affair” and National Memory of the French Resistance

Susan Rubin Suleiman, Harvard University

CONTRARY TO WHAT ONE STILL OCCASIONALLY READS OR HEARS, the French
have not, in recent years, refused to remember the so-called “dark years”
of the Vichy regime under German occupation (1940–1944). While the
more shameful aspects of Vichy—notably, its collaboration with the
Germans in the roundup and deportation of seventy-five thousand Jews
from French soil—was for many years a taboo subject in public dis-
course as well as in the academy, that is no longer the case. Indeed,
some historians have lately deplored the French “obsession” with
memory of the Vichy years. Henry Rousso, in his acclaimed 1987 book
The Vichy Syndrome, showed that increasingly after the mid-1970s, Vichy
and its turpitudes became a focus of public attention.1 This was aided
by a series of highly publicized trials for crimes against humanity, start-
ing with the 1987 trial of Klaus Barbie, a Nazi functionary notorious for
his role in the persecution of résistants and Jews in Lyon, and ending
with the 1997 trial of Maurice Papon, a highly placed French bureau-
crat in charge of the roundup of Jews in Bordeaux.2

It was just a few months before the opening of the Papon trial, in
February 1997, that the so-called “Aubrac affair” burst into the French
press, where it occupied considerable attention for over six months and
beyond. Raymond and Lucie Aubrac, who enjoyed national and inter-
national fame as heroes of the Resistance, were suddenly placed under
suspicion of having betrayed their comrades, and in particular the Re-
sistance hero Jean Moulin, fifty-four years earlier. As even this one-
sentence summary suggests, the “Aubrac affair” raises fascinating is-
sues about the history and memory of the Resistance in France. It also
raises important issues about narrative, in particular about what I call
narrative desire: on the one hand, the desire for heroic aggrandizement
(or for its opposite, the toppling of heroes); on the other hand, the desire
for narrative coherence and plausibility, or what in fiction is called veri-
similitude.
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AN AFFAIR OF MEMORY

Modern French history is rife with “affairs.” One interesting feature
of the Aubrac affair of 1997 is that, while arousing passions and involv-
ing high stakes, it seemed to be concerned exclusively with past history.
In the Dreyfus Affair, the immediate fate of the accused was at stake,
and the historical event that was the crux of the affair (somebody had
transmitted military secrets to Germany) was almost exactly contempo-
rary to the debates about it. In the Aubrac affair, the historical event
(somebody had tipped off Klaus Barbie to the secret meeting at which
Jean Moulin and others were arrested in 1943) had occurred more than
half a century earlier, and nobody’s immediate fate was at stake. But
can a public “affair” arouse passions without being in some way about
the present? The passions aroused by the Aubrac affair suggest that the
Resistance, and certain events of the Resistance like the arrest of Jean
Moulin, continue to be “present” in France, even while being historical.

What happened in the Aubrac affair, exactly, and why is it of inter-
est? In order to answer that question, we must take a leap back to the
trial of Klaus Barbie, which constituted a watershed in French collec-
tive memory of the Vichy period. This was especially true regarding the
memory of Vichy’s role in the persecution of Jews; indeed, it was largely
because of the efforts of those acting on behalf of Jewish victims—
notably, Beate and Serge Klarsfeld, who had made it their mission to
bring to justice perpetrators of crimes against humanity in France—that
Barbie was tracked down and extradited to France.3 However, given
Barbie’s role in the story of Jean Moulin, his trial also reactivated, in a
troubling and complicated way, the memory of the Resistance. The trial
itself lasted only a few weeks in the spring and early summer of 1987,
but its preparation took more than four years. Barbie, first identified
under his false identity (as the shady businessman Klaus Altmann) in
1972, had been extradited from Bolivia in February 1983, and jailed in
Lyon. From that moment on, until his trial, Barbie and his flamboyant
defense lawyer Jacques Vergès were constantly in the public eye. Vergès’s
strategy was to try and turn attention away from Barbie’s actions against
Jews (which clearly fell under the rubric of crimes against humanity)
and to emphasize, instead, his actions against the Resistance, which
came under the heading of war crimes. War crimes have a statute of
limitations, which by 1983 had run out for crimes committed during
World War II. Vergès was using Barbie’s crimes against the Resistance
as a diversion.4
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Vergès’s focus on the Resistance revived painful memories. He em-
phasized, in his numerous media appearances and in his book Pour en
finir avec Ponce Pilate (1983) that the Resistance was not the unified
entity of legend but consisted of groups with differing, sometimes hos-
tile agendas. Thus, he recalled, Barbie’s arrest of Jean Moulin and other
Resistance leaders at a meeting in the Lyon suburb of Caluire in June
1943 was the result of a betrayal. Moulin, a former Préfet who had been
dismissed from his post by the Vichy regime because of his left-wing
sympathies (he had been involved with the Popular Front, and also
showed a clear animus against the German occupants in 1940), joined
De Gaulle in London and was parachuted into France as De Gaulle’s
representative in January 1942. He worked for more than a year to bring
the diverse groups of the interior Resistance together into a single orga-
nization, and finally succeeded with the formation of the Conseil Na-
tional de la Résistance in May 1943.5 Despite this show of unity, how-
ever, his leadership was not unchallenged. His arrest by Barbie, Vergès
insisted, was due chiefly to internal dissension and jealousies among
Resistance leaders, in particular between those who were close to the
Communist Party and those who came from right-wing backgrounds.
In Vergès’s version, both left-wing and right-wing Resistance groups
had reason to want Moulin out of the way.6

At least two factors made Vergès’s revival of the Moulin story par-
ticularly sensational, in the early 1980s. First, Moulin had become, over
the years, the national symbol of the Resistance: in 1964, De Gaulle had
enshrined him in the Pantheon, France’s repository of “great men,” an
occasion on which André Malraux pronounced what is perhaps his most
famous speech, the funeral oration in praise of Moulin as heroic martyr
of the Resistance.7 This was at the height of what Rousso calls the pe-
riod of “repressed memory” in French collective remembrance of the
Vichy years: no memories of collaboration, only of glorious Resistance.
After May 1968 and De Gaulle’s departure from the political scene,
however, other memories began to surface that put to rest the Gaullist
myth of “la France résistante,” according to which all of France (not
just a small minority) had actively resisted the enemy. In the process,
Moulin himself became a target of accusations and insinuations: a former
résistant, Henri Frenay, leader of the anticommunist group Combat,
accused Moulin of having been a “crypto-communist.”8 By launching
his own accusations not against Moulin but against those who had al-
legedly betrayed Moulin, Vergès was recalling the political divisions
and fault-lines within the Resistance, which had been forgotten during
the period of “repressed memory” and were still not a subject of open
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discussion even in the 1980s. Vergès could claim to be seeking histori-
cal truth, but his role as Barbie’s defender made that claim dubious. To
most observers, and in particular to former résistants, his emphasis on
betrayal was an attempt to discredit the Resistance as a whole, as well
as to divert attention from Barbie’s crimes—whence the public outrage
provoked by his media appearances.

Another factor of sensationalism was that no one had ever been con-
demned in court as Moulin’s betrayer. René Hardy, a member of Com-
bat, was tried twice after the war (in 1947 and 1950), and is generally
considered to be the culprit. Like Raymond Aubrac and five other Re-
sistance leaders who were arrested and imprisoned with Moulin, Hardy
was present at the meeting at Caluire—unlike the others, however, he
had not been invited. And, while he too was arrested, he escaped before
being taken to prison.9 Raymond Aubrac, as well as his wife Lucie,
testified against Hardy at his postwar trials. But Hardy denied the charge
to his dying day, and despite conclusive evidence furnished at his sec-
ond trial, he was acquitted. The fact that both of Hardy’s trials became
highly politicized in the context of the Cold War (he staunchly pro-
claimed his anticommunism) undoubtedly contributed to his acquittal.
Klaus Barbie himself had confirmed, in testimony taken from him in
Germany at the time of Hardy’s second trial, that the latter had been the
one who led him to Moulin.10 In 1972, shortly after he was identified in
Bolivia, Barbie gave an interview to a Brazilian journalist, in which he
named Hardy again. The interview was reproduced and much commented
upon in France, but Hardy continued to deny the charge. In 1984, just
before he died, Hardy published a long and rambling book of self-justi-
fication, Derniers mots, in which he repeated his claim of innocence—
and accused others, notably his former “boss” at Combat Pierre de
Bénouville (who, another staunch anticommunist, had supported him
earlier) and Raymond Aubrac (who was close to the communists, and
had been accusing Hardy for years). Meanwhile, Vergès was making
the same accusations in the media; both Vergès and Hardy preferred
insinuation to explicit statement, but their meaning was unmistakable.
In the spring of 1984, both men repeated their accusations in a docu-
mentary film that never attained distribution, but that was shown at least
once at a public screening.11

Once again, the outcry in the press was enormous.12 It appeared clear
that the Resistance itself was being attacked, its memory tainted. The
Aubracs and Bénouville sued Vergès and Hardy for libel (and won,
though it took a long time).13 Henri Noguères, a lawyer who had written
a multi-volume history of the Resistance, published La vérité aura le
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dernier mot, refuting Hardy point by point. And Lucie Aubrac, ever an
outspoken woman, with an advanced degree in history and years of ex-
perience as a lycée history teacher, wrote a bestselling memoir about
her and Raymond’s adventures in Lyon during the dramatic months be-
tween March 1943 and February 1944. In her book, Ils partiront dans
l’ivresse, she recalled that they had been among the founders of the
Resistance group Libération, and that Raymond was one of its leaders.
She recounted his arrests in March and June 1943 (by French police the
first time, and then by Barbie at Caluire) and her foolhardy but coura-
geous schemes to free him: the first time, she threatened a French mag-
istrate with reprisals if he didn’t free Raymond; the second time, she
pretended to be Raymond’s pregnant girlfriend, enrolling the Gestapo’s
help in making “an honest woman” out of her, and then organized an
armed commando to hold up the truck returning Raymond and other
prisoners from Gestapo headquarters to prison. She told of their hiding
in the countryside after his dramatic escape in October, and of their
airlift to London in February 1944, where she gave birth to their second
child upon arrival.

 It is a tale of risk and romance, almost too beautiful to be true. But
true it is, writes the author in her Preface: “I have tried to give an ac-
count as exact as possible in time and in the facts. I have been helped in
this by my own memories, by my husband’s, and by the testimonies of
our comrades.”14 As corroboration of the latter, the book contained an
Appendix consisting of two brief testimonies by comrades involved in
the story. A note preceding these testimonies stated that they had been
“established so as to be presentable in court”—not mere narrative rec-
ollections, but testimonies in a legal sense.15 This book too, then, was a
response to the accusations coming from Hardy and Vergès; the quasi-
legal language of the Appendix alluded to Barbie’s trial, which was then
being prepared.

Narratives of heroism are deeply satisfying, like fantasies of wish-
fulfillment; they are also, generally speaking, morally unambiguous,
the characters drawn in broad brushstrokes, the plots linear and sche-
matic: confrontation, apparent defeat, ultimate triumph. The story told
by Lucie Aubrac in her memoir conforms to this pattern, with the added
twist that she frames it in the nine months of her second pregnancy: the
heroine who organizes her husband’s spectacular escape from the Nazi
prison is a loving wife and mother, five months pregnant. The book’s
plot is best summed up by its English title: Outwitting the Gestapo. The
French title, more poetic, emphasizes the elated, larger than life aspect
of the heroic experience: Ils partiront dans l’ivresse, “They will depart
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in ecstasy.” The author explains in her Preface that this was the coded
message transmitted by the BBC in February 1944, to signal the couple’s
airlift to London.

Ils partiront dans l’ivresse, published in the fall of 1984, became a
bestseller, translated into many languages; and Lucie and Raymond
Aubrac, in their seventies, became media stars. Featured on radio and
television programs, in newspaper and magazine articles, in classrooms
and learned conferences, the Aubracs were, throughout the 1980s and
well into the 1990s, the country’s favorite Resistance heroes. Lucie,
tireless, went into schools to talk about her book and to inspire young
people with the “spirit of resistance,” past and future. Raymond, more
reserved, recollected his interrogation sessions with Klaus Barbie when
called upon by journalists or filmmakers; and he too was writing a mem-
oir, in fact a full-scale autobiography, which was published in 1996.
Raymond Aubrac, an engineer and graduate of an elite grande école,
had an important career after the war, named by De Gaulle as a
Commissaire de la République in Marseille in 1945 and then occupying
a series of influential positions in France and abroad. Raymond spent
relatively little space, in his book, on the episode with Barbie, but his
version did not contradict Lucie’s.16

One well-known historian and specialist in the wartime period, Jean-
Pierre Rioux, wrote in his review of Raymond Aubrac’s Où la mémoire
s’attarde in Le Monde that the book would “play an important role in
the history of Resistance testimonies.” And he ended with a heartfelt
homage: “There remains Raymond, sparkling with wicked wit, coura-
geous in the extreme, likeable as all hell. On his feet, always. With Lucie.
And that alone matters. God, how we love those two!”17 Rioux’s excla-
mation reflects both the historian’s appreciation and the “average
Frenchman[’s]” admiration of these two elderly figures (by now, they
were well into their eighties). It also reflects what I am calling the de-
sire for heroic aggrandizement in narrative—specifically, in narratives
that possess collective significance. In collective terms, Lucie and
Raymond Aubrac represented not only an ideal couple, still united after
so many years, but also an ideal image of the French Resistance; the
Resistance, in turn, represents what was best and most noble about France
during the Vichy years—it embodies what De Gaulle called “la France
éternelle.”

The popular, collective appeal of the Aubracs’ story is confirmed by
the fact that it inspired not one but two film adaptations, both of them
based on Lucie Aubrac’s memoir and focusing on the woman-in-love-
who-is-also-a-heroine. The 1992 film, Boulevard des Hirondelles, di-
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rected by Josée Yann, met with little reaction or success, perhaps be-
cause neither the actors nor the director were well-known. Five years
later, the version by the popular director Claude Berri, known for his
large-scale adaptations of French classics like Germinal, elicited huge
public commentary. Starring two famous actors (Carole Bouquet and
Daniel Auteuil) as the heroic couple, Berri’s Lucie Aubrac was panned
almost universally by critics at its release in February 1997: too stereo-
typical, too focused on the love story, not accurate enough about the
Resistance; altogether too “Hollywood,” was the critical verdict.18 Yet,
the film did well at the box office; in fact, in terms of tickets sold, it has
been the most popular film about the Occupation in the past thirty-five
years, outdoing François Truffaut’s The Last Metro, Louis Malle’s
Lacombe Lucien, and even his Au revoir les enfants. It received the
blessing of the French Ministry of Education, which featured it in pub-
lications intended for teachers, who took schoolchildren in droves.19

 As if to prove that reality is rarely simple, it was during the very
week that Berri released his hero-worshiping film that the Aubracs’ name
became attached to an “affair.” They were accused, by a journalist who
was about to release a book on the subject, of having falsified certain
crucial aspects of their story. The long-forgotten insinuations of Barbie’s
lawyer, concerning Raymond Aubrac’s role in Moulin’s arrest, were
suddenly revived. Just as France was getting ready for the Papon trial,
which would once again point to the ignominies of Vichy toward the
Jews, the “Aubrac affair” churned up troubled memories of the Resis-
tance.

The distinguished classicist Jean-Pierre Vernant (himself an active
member of the Resistance) has spoken about possible conflicts or ten-
sions among three kinds of memory as far as the Resistance is con-
cerned: personal memory, social memory, and the memory of histori-
ans.20 In fact, these categories are applicable to all events of collective
significance, including most recently the American catastrophe of Sep-
tember 11. Personal memory is the memory of actual participants or
witnesses of the event. Social or collective memory refers to the way
the event is recalled and interpreted in a given society at a given time,
as indicated by a wide range of public discourses, from official state-
ments to works of art and literature. Historical memory, finally, refers
to the specialized work accomplished by those who, trained in the
historian’s discipline, seek to distinguish public mythologies and illu-
sions from documented facts. Vernant points out that all three kinds of
memory are dynamic and contextual, continually reworked in light of
present needs and interests; they are to be understood, in other words,
as part of an ongoing negotiation between past and present.
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The mutual influences among these three kinds of memory have in-
terested theorists for a long time, and continue to do so. Maurice
Halbwachs, in his pioneering work on collective memory, showed that
individual memory always takes place within—and is influenced by—
a social framework, beginning with the family and moving out to larger
groups and the community.21 Historians rely on documents rather than
on social memory. Yet, to the extent that historians are themselves indi-
viduals living in a specific setting, their work is inevitably influenced
by collective categories; furthermore, as Hayden White has shown, the
writing of history relies on patterns of narrative that shape the raw docu-
mentary material, thus establishing at least formal similarities between
historical narratives and fictional ones.22

The overlappings as well as the potential conflicts among these three
kinds of memory become especially evident concerning historical events
with strong affective resonance, such as the Vichy regime and the Re-
sistance in France. Where such events are concerned, the relations among
historical research, collective representations, and personal testimony
become increasingly tense. What makes the Aubrac affair so interest-
ing, aside from its specific content, is that it offers a complex illustra-
tion of such tensions.

SOCIAL MEMORY VS. HISTORICAL MEMORY:

THE POWER OF LEGENDS

It is highly significant that the accusations against the Aubracs were
timed to coincide with the release of Berri’s film, Lucie Aubrac. Gérard
Chauvy, whose book Aubrac, Lyon 1943 was to be released in early
April, jumped the gun by publishing an article that listed the major ac-
cusations the week before the film’s release.23 The first time the words
“Affaire Aubrac” appeared in print was in an article in the conservative
daily Le Figaro, which criticized the film for “magnifying the legend of
the Aubrac couple,” and then went on to give a brief summary of
Chauvy’s forthcoming book; the latter thus appeared to be the histori-
cally accurate corrective to the “official legend” propagated by the film.24

That was exactly the way Chauvy himself presented his book; in addi-
tion, he enlisted a former résistant to write a Preface, which also in-
sisted on the priority of History over legend. 25

As part of his painstaking investigation, Chauvy had combed through
the dossier d’instruction (the criminal investigation file, assembled by
an investigating magistrate, the juge d’instruction, in every criminal
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case) of the 1987 Barbie trial, as well as through the dossier of a second
trial that never took place because of Barbie’s death in 1991. Among
some hitherto unpublished documents, Chauvy found various deposi-
tions made by Raymond Aubrac between 1944 and 1990, concerning
his two arrests in Lyon in 1943 and his time in prison from June 1943
until his escape in October. Some of these depositions, which Chauvy
published in an Appendix, contradict (or appear to contradict) each other
about certain details, and also contradict what Raymond and Lucie had
written in their memoirs. In addition, the Appendix included a notori-
ous document that Barbie had placed into the dossier shortly before his
death: the so-called “testament de Barbie,” written in impeccable French
and thoroughly researched, looking more like a legal brief than a per-
sonal narrative. In this fifty-page text, Barbie claimed—for the first time
in all the years since 1944, during which he had made numerous depo-
sitions and given numerous published interviews—that Raymond
Aubrac, aided by his wife Lucie, had been the betrayer of Jean Mou-
lin.26 The existence of this “testament” had been known since 1991,
when it had already occasioned a media flurry and a vigorous reaction
by Raymond Aubrac.27 But it had never been published before Chauvy’s
book. As any reading makes clear, the “testament,” although signed by
Barbie, was not written by him. Most likely, it was the work of Vergès,
stating baldly what Vergès had only insinuated in his accusations against
Aubrac seven years earlier.

Although Chauvy claims the status of dispassionate historian, his
obvious animus against the Aubracs and his attempt to discredit every
major aspect of their story place him squarely in the role of accuser.
Thus, even while recognizing that Barbie’s “testament” is not to be
trusted, he implies in the end that the document tells the truth. Through
his minute examination of certain details deprived of larger context,
and through his uncritical use of some documents combined with a “hy-
percritical” approach to others, Chauvy succeeds in creating—by in-
sinuation and innuendo, not outright statement—an abject
counternarrative to Lucie Aubrac’s (and Claude Berri’s) heroic one. Of
course, one can ask: is there absolutely nothing valid in Chauvy’s dem-
onstrations? What about the real inconsistencies in the Aubracs’ state-
ments? I will get to them shortly. For now, I want to emphasize the role
that Chauvy’s book played in the construction of social memory. In fact,
it fostered confusion between social memory and historical memory,
even while claiming to “correct” the former by the latter.

Chauvy, as we have seen, defined his book as history opposed to
legend, fact opposed to fantasy. Yet, he too offers a powerful fantasy
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and satisfies a narrative desire, one that is perhaps even stronger, in our
time, than the other: it is the desire to unmask, to demystify—in a word,
to dethrone what was previously extolled. True, the myth of “la France
résistante” had been destroyed decades earlier; but individual résistants,
and even the Resistance itself, reduced to a small but heroic minority,
continued to be revered. Vergès’s attempt, in the early 1980s, to dis-
credit the Resistance had been successfully countered; the Aubracs had
played a major role in that success, due to the popularity of Lucie
Aubrac’s memoir and their frequent appearances on radio and televi-
sion, in classrooms, at public conferences, as well as to their charis-
matic personalities (especially Lucie’s, by all accounts). Now, Chauvy’s
book insinuated a different story, a story of abjection: Raymond Aubrac
betraying his comrades as early as his first arrest in March 1943, fol-
lowed by the betrayal of Moulin in June. Chauvy offers no documen-
tary proof for this story, as all the historians who have weighed in on his
book agree.28 Indeed, he doesn’t even tell the story, contenting himself
with suggesting it by means of conjectures and innuendos. The Aubracs
sued him and his publisher for libel, and won.29 But a court judgment is
no protection against popular fantasy.

The problem is, the abject scenario is appealing: it not only reverses
the heroic plot, but also complicates the character of the protagonists.
The Aubracs suddenly become people with secrets to hide, people who
may have been living a lie for fifty years, so much more interesting than
a straightforward hero to a postmodern sensibility! It is not an accident,
I think, that Jean-Luc Godard, in his 2001 film Éloge de l’amour (In
Praise of Love), features an old couple of résistants about whom we are
told that the husband betrayed his own wife and caused her to be de-
ported during the war—Godard, the antithesis of a popular filmmaker,
would obviously prefer the abject scenario to Berri’s heroic one. Some-
what shockingly, he goes so far as to report (via the character of the
granddaughter) that the couple’s real name is Samuel, different from
the name they have been using since the war.30 Raymond Aubrac’s given
name was Raymond Samuel (he is Jewish); Aubrac is his Resistance
pseudonym, which he legally adopted for his family after the war. In
Godard’s film, the couple’s current name is Bayard, as if to underline
their fictional status (they are “not the Aubracs”). But the insertion of
Raymond Aubrac’s real given name into a fictional representation in
the abject mode (Bayard betrayed his wife during the war) creates a
troubling amalgam, reminiscent of the innuendos in Chauvy’s book.
Indeed, one could suggest that Godard’s amalgam reflects a change in
collective representation or social memory, rendered possible by those
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very innuendos. What was purportedly history as a “corrective” to the
heroic legend of social memory has become the vehicle for another kind
of social memory, another kind of legend.

The desire to replace heroism with abjection is not limited to modern
(or postmodern) times. Pierre Vidal-Naquet has shown that the social
tendency to “deheroize” even the greatest heroes has existed since an-
tiquity.31 Nevertheless, I think a strong case can be made that this ten-
dency has become increasingly dominant. In literature as in life, we
tend to be suspicious of heroes. Chauvy’s book capitalized on that sus-
picion, as have a number of other recent books by journalist-historians
who have taken Jean Moulin himself as their target: there have been
numerous “affaires Jean Moulin” since Frenay published his accusa-
tions of “crypto-communism.” According to one recent book, Moulin,
immortalized as De Gaulle’s martyred representative, contacted an
American agent in a maneuver against De Gaulle before his arrest! The
historian Annette Wieviorka, reviewing the book in Le Monde, deplored
the public’s taste for “affairs” and “secrets,” which risked reducing the
Resistance to no more than “a series of detective stories.” 32

Chauvy’s book provoked a huge polemic in the press. Many journal-
ists and historians rushed to the Aubracs’ defense; others, even while
condemning Chauvy’s methods, were troubled by some of the contra-
dictions he had unearthed and asked the Aubracs for explanation.33 Fur-
thermore, as in all “affairs” concerning collective events, the stakes in-
volved not only a search for historical truth; they were also political.
The Aubracs had never hidden the fact that they had lifelong left-wing
sympathies; it is clear from Raymond Aubrac’s autobiography that they
were for a long time very close to the Communist Party, even if they
never formally joined. In 1997, the intellectual mood in France was
largely anticommunist; fierce polemics were being waged, even among
politically liberal intellectuals, over whether communism had been as
great an evil of the twentieth century as fascism and nazism, or even a
worse one.34 The way people lined up, in defense of the Aubracs or in
suspicion of them, was at least partly influenced by their position in the
debate over communism. Another political factor was the imminence of
the Papon trial. Since official French collaboration with the Nazis in the
persecution of Jews would be the focus of that trial, any suggestion of
abject behavior during the war by a Jewish résistant—whose parents,
moreover, were deported and murdered in Auschwitz, as Raymond
Aubrac’s were—necessarily had a political resonance.

What may we conclude from all this, about the relation between his-
torical memory and social memory? First, that it becomes increasingly
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difficult to draw the dividing line when works of history become imme-
diately transformed into vehicles of public scandal, and even more dif-
ficult when works claiming to seek “historical truth” become themselves
purveyors of legend—albeit a different kind of legend. The second con-
clusion is that the writing of history is deeply implicated in shaping
social memory, as well as being shaped by it. The fact that Gérard
Chauvy’s book is not “responsible” history merely emphasizes this point,
which even historians who have greater respect for historical objectiv-
ity and responsibility can take to heart.

But what about the contradictions unearthed by Chauvy? This ques-
tion brings us to the next item of interest in the Aubrac affair: the con-
frontation between historians and memoirists, and the relation between
historical and personal memory.

HISTORICAL MEMORY VS. PERSONAL MEMORY:

THE POWER OF THE PLAUSIBLE

Historians of the Second World War and the Occupation have tre-
mendous popular prestige in France today, and are constantly solicited
as “experts” by the media. They were also called as expert witnesses in
the highly publicized trials for crimes against humanity, notably in the
Papon trial. It was no doubt because of this prestige that Raymond Aubrac
requested, soon after Chauvy’s book appeared, that a group of distin-
guished historians meet with him and his wife to discuss the accusa-
tions. Aubrac fully expected to be exonerated at such a meeting of all
suspicion that he had been involved in the betrayal of Jean Moulin: “I
have been calumnied, and I want to respond to the calumny.”35 Already
in 1991, at the time the “testament de Barbie” first surfaced, he had
requested a similar meeting at the Institut d’Histoire du Temps Présent,
a research institute with which a number of distinguished historians of
World War II and the Occupation are affiliated. But that meeting never
took place.36

This time, a meeting did take place, in the offices of the daily
Libération, over a whole day on May 17, 1997. Participating in the dis-
cussion were five well-known historians affiliated with the IHTP, spe-
cialists in the Second World War and the Occupation: Henry Rousso,
Jean-Pierre Azéma, François Bédarida, Laurent Douzou, and Domin-
ique Veillon; the former résistant and admired biographer of Jean Mou-
lin, Daniel Cordier; and two other distinguished scholars who were there
as personal friends of the Aubracs, Maurice Agulhon and J. P. Vernant.
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All of the participants knew the Aubracs personally. Also present, though
not taking part in the discussion, were two journalists from the paper,
Béatrice Vallaeys and Antoine de Gaudemar.

From just about every point of view, the meeting was a failure. The
historians, even while castigating Chauvy’s animosity and lack of ad-
equate historical method, and even while affirming that his allegations
of betrayal were not supported by any documentary evidence, declared
at the end of the day that “areas of shadow” existed in the Aubracs’
version of the story. Instead of an exoneration, the Libération round-
table thus produced only further suspicion, and increasing animosity
among the participants. The discussion was taped, and a slightly edited
version was published in July.37 This was followed, over a period of
several weeks, by impassioned commentaries on the event, published
in Libération, Le Monde, and other papers—first by all the participants,
including the Aubracs, then by other historians who responded to the
published transcript, often extremely critically. A large number of ordi-
nary readers also gave their opinion. Three years later, the Libération
round-table was still the subject of heated discussions: in summer 2000
the legal journal Justice published two lengthy critical analyses of the
proceedings by a jurist and a sociologist, followed by responses from
the participating historians.38

What was the crux of the criticisms of the round-table? First, critics
deplored the use of a daily newspaper for an attempt to arrive at histori-
cal truth: A round-table that lasts a whole day is neither an interview nor
a scholarly inquiry and can only lead to confusion, in addition to the
pressure and negative effects of “mediatization.” This confusion be-
tween journalism and scholarship would be another version, then, of a
negative overlap between historical memory and social memory. The
second criticism concerned the historians’ mode of questioning the
Aubracs, which gradually turned into an interrogation. The historians,
according to this view, had breached the ethics as well as the methodol-
ogy of historical research. The noted historian Antoine Prost wrote in a
much-cited article in Le Monde: “The historian must examine all hy-
potheses and there are no taboos for him . . . But he does not have the
right to formulate hypotheses without foundation.”39 Prost was refer-
ring to a particularly painful moment in the discussion, toward the end
of the afternoon (xxi), when Daniel Cordier, soon followed by François
Bédarida, emitted the “hypothesis” that Lucie Aubrac had been followed
by Barbie’s men after her visits to the Gestapo, when she was pretend-
ing to be Raymond’s pregnant girlfriend; and that that may have lead to
the arrest of Raymond’s parents a month later (they were deported and
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died in Auschwitz). In formulating their hypothesis, according to Prost,
the historians had “crossed the yellow line.” Or, in our terms, they had
transgressed a line between historical memory and personal memory.

With that in mind, I want now to look closely at the published tran-
script of the round-table, reading it as a dramatic text; it even has the
structure of a classical drama, with five chapters/acts and an introduc-
tion and epilogue.40 What were the interpretive twists and the interper-
sonal dynamics that led to the negative dénouement? And how can that
question illuminate the role of narrative desire, both in the writing of
history and in the writing of personal memory or testimony?

Testimony, Fiction, History

Paul Ricoeur has noted that the activity of testifying, whether orally
or in writing, is linked to both narrating and promising.41 The witness
narrates what he or she has experienced, and promises that the account
is true to the best of her or his knowledge. Ricoeur also notes that a
historian who manifests suspicion toward a given testimony (and by
implication, toward a witness) does not betray the historian’s vocation—
on the contrary, a certain kind of suspicion is necessary to historical
research: “We must rely on testimony and on the critique of testimony
to accredit the historian’s representation of the past” (364). By
“historian’s representation” (représentation historienne), Ricoeur means
an account as faithful as possible of something that “once was” but is
no longer (367). The ontological status of something that “once was”
distinguishes the historical past from an imagined or fictional past. Even
though we can never recapture the historical past in its absolute “truth,”
the fact that it once was confers a special status on the historian’s repre-
sentation of it. It follows that for the historian, the value of a written or
recorded testimony—a first-person narrative that purports to tell what
the narrator actually lived through—is determined above all, and essen-
tially, by its veracity. How can one determine the veracity of a testi-
mony? Through the confirmation of the account by other documents, in
the best case; through the coherence and explicative power of the narra-
tive; and/or through the personal reliability of the witness. Reliability is
confirmed both by the “character” of the witness and by the fact that his
or her account does not vary over time. Ricoeur and other theorists of
testimony (whom he cites) call this invariance the principle of reitera-
tion: “The reliable witness is one who can maintain his testimony over
time” (206).
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What did the historians do at the round-table? Chauvy had supplied
them with documents they had not seen until then—not the fraudulent
“testament de Barbie,” but genuine transcripts of depositions made by
Raymond Aubrac between 1944 and 1972, usually in the context of
judicial proceedings (trials of Hardy and Barbie). The historians com-
pared these various depositions, and also compared them to the mem-
oirs published by the Aubracs in 1984 (Lucie) and 1996 (Raymond).
They noted some contradictions, and they charged ahead. Critics blamed
them for acting like judges, and that did in fact become a problem; but
it is worth noting that judges—especially the juges d’instruction of
French legal proceedings, who gather evidence and question witnesses
in preparation for a trial—and historians have some traits in common,
as well as differences. Ricoeur points out similarities between the search
for judicial proof and the search for historical proof: “both accord prior-
ity to questioning, to the play of the imagination with possibilities; both
make an effort to detect contradictions, inconsistencies, implausibili-
ties . . . In that regard, the judge and the historian are . . . equally masters
in the art of suspicion” (417).

Of course, the judge and the historian work with different time-frames,
and different aims. The confusion between these two roles in the round-
table became flagrant (as the critics noted) because the historians were
confronting not only documents, but persons. The Aubracs were count-
ing on the fact that they were known in any case, personally and pub-
licly, to be honorable people, from which it followed that they were
reliable witnesses. The problem occurred because the historians, even
while repeatedly affirming the witnesses’ honorability (sincerely, it must
be assumed), allowed their professional “suspicion” to prevail. In the
process of confronting not the written texts but the witnesses themselves,
they moved into the role of judge and even of prosecutor, and ended up
putting the witnesses’ reliability as a whole into question. Thus, quite
late in the day, in the fourth “act” of the drama (the chapter titled “Le
rapport du commissaire Porte”), they began to express doubt about a
key episode of the story told by Lucie Aubrac in her book. How, they
asked, could she enter several times, without being stopped, into the
headquarters of the Gestapo (to arrange the fake marriage with
Raymond)? “Can one really say that one could enter the Gestapo like a
windmill?” asked Azéma. “It is hard to believe that in Lyon one could
come and go freely, without being checked, in the headquarters of the
Gestapo,” added Bédarida. And Rousso: “During all those visits . . . ,
they never at any time had knowledge of who you were?” (xv). Lucie
Aubrac could only repeat that indeed, that’s how it was, no one ever
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asked her for proof of identity, just as later she would repeat that she
hadn’t been followed after her visits. But it seems clear that the histori-
ans were not convinced.

Raymond Aubrac was conscious of that fact, for at that point he in-
tervened: “When the ‘testament de Barbie’ was composed, the author
took advantage of all those aspects of our adventure that are hard to
believe in order to construct the accusation of betrayal. At this moment
we are treading on the terrain of Gérard Chauvy” (xvi). This exasper-
ated comment, which sounds like an accusation (“You are like Chauvy!”),
may have been somewhat unjust, but it was not wholly unjustified. For
paradoxically, the historians would embark, in the name of historical
truth, on the quest for counternarratives that appeared to them more
plausible and logical than the narrative told by Lucie. The “hypothesis”
that Lucie was followed, leading to the arrest of Raymond’s parents,
was the culminating example (in the last act, chapter 5); but already in
the morning, well before Raymond’s exasperated comment, we can see
three of the questioners trying to find a more “plausible” version of an
episode told by Lucie in her book, regarding her visit to the prosecutor
Ducasse (May 1943) to obtain Raymond’s release from prison after his
first arrest by French police. The historians all agree that it was a fool-
hardy act, and so does she; but in her version, the foolhardy act was
effective: she threatened Ducasse with reprisals by the Resistance, where-
upon he ordered Raymond’s release. The historians find this explana-
tion implausible, and offer various alternatives. Henri Rousso proposes
“a simpler hypothesis. Prosecutor Ducasse . . . didn’t really take you
seriously. Luckily for you and especially for Raymond Aubrac, he be-
lieved neither that he was holding ‘an envoy of General de Gaulle’ nor
that he might be personally threatened.” To which Lucie Aubrac re-
plies: “I think he got scared.” But her old friend Vernant intervenes:
“Not I. Things are more complicated,” and he launches into an explana-
tion of the motives of the French police in 1943! (x).

It is a curious, one could almost say a charming, moment, as the
historians and the witness spar over the meaning of the event and even
over what actually happened. One can see here an instance of the “play
with the imagination of possibilities” that Ricoeur referred to as part of
the historian’s activity. And one can also see the witness defending her
own account, with some irritation at being challenged, but without
animosity. No position definitively prevails, and the mood remains cordial.

Later, however, the mood worsens. Noticing the obvious (and in-
creasing) skepticism of the historians, Raymond Aubrac exclaims that
they are treading on the terrain of Chauvy. And Lucie makes an unex-
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pected admission that radically alters the debate. Furious at the histori-
ans’ questioning, she says to Bédarida: “I’m not a researcher at the IHTP.
I’m a woman who wrote her book because people were starting, with
Vergès, to attack the Resistance. [ . . . ] I didn’t write a history book with
a capital H, but a book in which I told the story of a pregnancy and a
life” (xvi). At this, the historians jump. Rousso: “Ever since I started to
work on this period, I’ve always heard résistants, and you in particular,
repeating constantly: ‘Listen to our testimonies.’ [ . . . ] Now how are
we to react when you tell us that we can’t do that because you ‘ar-
ranged’ some details?” Lucie Aubrac replies: “You are right.” Next, it’s
Daniel Cordier’s turn: “You wrote an exciting adventure novel that you
rashly presented as your memories. I consider that slippage shocking.”
Cordier explains why: famous résistants speak for “all the unknown
members of the Resistance,” and they have the duty to tell the truth.
“You have a duty to remember that is the duty of a historian” (xvi).

It’s a fascinating moment. Does a memoir that “arranges” some de-
tails become, by virtue of that fact, a novel? And if so, is it a matter of
some details only, or do all details have the same importance? If details
don’t all have the same importance—if some can be “arranged” without
transgressing the genre of the memoir—how is one to decide at which
point the balance shifts, and the memoir becomes a novel? Lucie Aubrac
does not consider her memoir a novel. And yet, it is certain that some of
the details she recounts, including some non-trivial ones, are untrue,
and that she knew them to be so when she wrote her book—which does
not mean that she consciously intended to deceive the reader.42 She states
right at the beginning of the round-table:

I am now accused of having made some errors in dates in a
book that I dictated in four months, and that students in middle
school and high school read and study. It must be recalled why
I wrote that little book. It was because Jacques Vergès was start-
ing to attack us. Of course, my book is not the work of a histo-
rian, but of a teacher, a pedagogue. My life as a teacher is that
of an activist, it’s not a life that insists on searching for exact
times, names, or dates. (vii)

Personally, I have some problem with the notion implied by this state-
ment: that the work of a teacher or pedagogue—which consists, accord-
ing to Lucie Aubrac, of “making things come to life”—requires that one
should overlook the difference, in a historical narrative, between fac-
tual elements and invented ones. But I understand that for Lucie Aubrac,
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what matters are the values associated with the Resistance, values that
she feels she transmitted in her book.

Still, the question must be asked: under what circumstances and for
what reasons does the author of a historical testimony (for it is as a
historical testimony that Lucie Aubrac’s book is presented, and that it is
read and studied in schools) feel authorized to recount things that she
knows (and I am willing to accord all the necessary ambiguity to that
verb) to be inaccurate?

Narrative Desire

We arrive here at the most problematic aspect of the Libération round-
table, and more generally of the “Aubrac affair.” For independently of
the procedure, which was rightfully criticized, the historians at the meet-
ing pointed to genuine inconsistencies in the various accounts of their
adventure given by the Aubracs since 1944. I believe that one must be
able to say this, without being accused of wanting to besmirch the Re-
sistance; but one must also be able to say it without wishing to put into
doubt the courage and honorability of two aged résistants.

The need to balance respect for the witness with the pursuit of his-
torical truth is, as Rousso pointed out in a book published not long after
the round-table, the difficult task of any historian whose subject is the
“history of the present.”43 In the case of the round-table, this led him to
a suspension of judgment: “In the absence of other elements, and con-
sidering the replies of the witness [Raymond Aubrac] who declared that
he could not explain [the contradictions], I forbade myself to draw any
conclusion” (126). Azéma was somewhat harsher: he maintained, in an
article published even before the transcript of the round-table, that the
Aubracs’ story contained “zones of shadow” that, “for reasons known
only to him, Raymond Aubrac does not intend to clear up.”44 As for
Cordier, he concluded in good positivist fashion that “new discoveries
will have to be made in the archives in order to know the replies” to the
unresolved questions concerning Raymond Aubrac.45

Personally, I am interested in the psychological as well as the literary
and historical implications of these inconsistencies—and of one in par-
ticular, to which the historians returned again and again during the round-
table. It concerns the question of what Barbie knew about Raymond
Aubrac’s identity after his arrest at Caluire. The historians noted, in
comparing Aubrac’s numerous statements between 1944 and 1996, that
he gave varying answers to that question. We must recall that “Aubrac”
was a pseudonym, designating a highly placed member of the Secret
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Army, the newly formed military wing of the interior Resistance. The
Germans knew the name and the role, since they had captured an
organigram of the Secret Army in an earlier operation. Like all mem-
bers of the Resistance, Raymond, whose real name was Raymond
Samuel, carried false papers with other names—Vallet when he was
arrested in March, Ermelin in June. Soon after his arrest in June, Barbie
recognized “Ermelin” as Vallet, the man he had questioned months ear-
lier.46 But did Barbie also know that Ermelin/Vallet was Aubrac, a leader
of the Secret Army?

By all indications, the answer is yes. Raymond stated it clearly in his
first “debriefing” in London in February 1944 (“I was obliged to admit
that I was Aubrac when they identified me as Vallet . . .”),47 and he
reconfirmed it during the Libération round-table (xiv). (It is thought
that one of the other men arrested at Caluire, Henry Aubry, revealed
both Moulin’s identity and Aubrac’s under torture.) But according to
the documents published by Chauvy, Raymond did not always say the
same thing, and in particular, he did not say it in his 1996 autobiogra-
phy. On the contrary, he affirmed in the book (at least, that is what one
concludes on a first reading) that Barbie had “never gone beyond” his
identity as Vallet: “Each time my name was called for a confrontation
with Barbie . . . I feared that my true role had been discovered, my
identity exposed. In that case, all would have been lost.”48 After the
round-table, and until the present day, Raymond Aubrac has explained
that he did not deny, in his book, that Barbie knew he was Aubrac. When
he wrote that Barbie did not know his “true identity,” he was referring
to his identity as Raymond Samuel. “When I repeat several times that
my identity was not discovered I’m thinking of Samuel,” he said in a
published interview after the round-table.49

Here we face a question of textual analysis, if ever there was one:
when Raymond Aubrac writes that he feared his “true role” and “iden-
tity” had been discovered, is he referring to Aubrac or to Samuel? All
the historians at the round-table pointed out that while “identity” could
refer to Samuel, “role” designated a role in the Resistance and could
therefore only refer to Aubrac. Hence their repeated question: Why did
you sometimes say that Barbie knew you were Aubrac, and at other
times that he didn’t? In fact, as Daniel Cordier pointed out after analyz-
ing the documents (most of them furnished by Chauvy), Aubrac’s vari-
ous statements fell into three categories, not two (xvii–xviii). Below is
a summary of Cordier’s analysis, to which I have added a few details
based on my own research:
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1. Affirmation: Raymond states that Barbie recognized him as Vallet
and as Aubrac: February 1944 (debriefing in London); April 1948 (dos-
sier d’instruction for second trial of Hardy); 1950 (testimony in court at
Hardy’s second trial); 1992 (dossier d’instruction for second trial of
Barbie, which never took place).

2. Omission, or I would say ellipsis: Raymond states that Barbie rec-
ognized him as Vallet, without adding anything more (he was not asked):
June 1944 (debriefing in Algiers); 1983 (preliminary investigation,
Barbie trial); 1987 (testimony in court, Barbie trial—not cited by
Cordier);50 one could also cite here Lucie Aubrac’s version in 1984 (Ils
partiront dans l’ivresse, 87).

3. Contradiction, or I would say denial: Raymond states that Barbie
did not recognize him as Aubrac: 1996, Où la mémoire s’attarde—but
note that Raymond Aubrac refuses this reading; Jan. 1997 (television
program, “La marche du siècle,” where the statement is clear and un-
ambiguous—not cited by Cordier; I will return to it).

Cordier is ready to excuse what he calls the omissions, but he feels
that the autobiography of 1996 contains a “horrendous contradiction.”
And he adds: “It intrigued me all the more because your Memoirs are a
carefully thought out and edited text, specifically destined for the pub-
lic, where you weighed every word and phrase since it represents the
version you are bequeathing to history” (xviii). Cordier is stunned at
what he considers to be dissimulation on Aubrac’s part: “For it is evi-
dent to all those who seek the truth that there is a black hole there”
(xix). At that moment, Raymond Aubrac can offer no explanation in
reply: he simply acknowledges that his testimonies over the years have
varied. Later, as I’ve mentioned, he will explain that in his book he
never denied what Barbie knew. In his published commentary on the
round-table, he will state that he has never denied—either in his 1996
book or earlier—that Barbie knew he was Aubrac.51

A curious moment, when the author of a text and his readers disagree
over the meaning of a sentence! But why all the fuss, one might ask?
Why parse a text with no claim to literary status as if it were a page of
Proust or a sonnet by Baudelaire? The answer is not as simple as one
might think. To be sure, personal reliability and historical truth were at
stake—matters of importance both for the historians and for the wit-
ness. But there was more. If the historians (not only Cordier, but Rousso,
Bédarida, Azéma) returned repeatedly to the question of “what Barbie
knew,” it was because they were trying to explain what they considered
a mystery: Why, alone of all those arrested with Moulin, was Raymond
Aubrac not transferred to Paris after his first interrogations? (Besides



74 SOUTH CENTRAL REVIEW

Moulin, two of the men captured at Caluire died in deportation.) Why
was he left to vegetate in his cell for months, with no further action?
According to the historians’ criteria of plausibility and narrative coher-
ence, it was impossible that Barbie knew he had “Aubrac” and that he
left him alone, practically forgetting him, as he did. As Bédarida put it:
“According to whether it’s yes or no, everything changes. For if you are
François Vallet, it’s really a very small matter. [ . . . ] But the moment
you are identified as Aubrac, you become a very big catch” (xviii). In
fact, Barbie did know he had Aubrac—and yet, Raymond Aubrac re-
mained in prison for several months (he had been condemned to death,
he recounts in his book) without being otherwise disturbed. “Area of
shadow.” Black hole.

The aim and duty of historians is to search for the truest version of
past events—of what “once was,” as Ricoeur said. One way to accom-
plish this is by the construction of coherent narratives that conform to a
logic of plausibility and cause and effect, which guarantees that history
makes sense. The historians’ persistent questioning of the witnesses at
the round-table, whether on grounds of plausibility (“Could one really
enter the Gestapo without being checked?”) or on those of cause and
effect (“If Barbie knew, why didn’t he act differently?”) indicates the
power of that narrative desire.

And not surprisingly, that desire is shared by the witnesses them-
selves. Whence the fascinating phenomenon whereby the person who
recounts his or her past experience feels obliged to provide the plau-
sible version, even while knowing (or “knowing”) that it doesn’t fully
correspond to the facts. This is somewhat similar to what psychoana-
lysts call rationalization (providing plausible motives or explanations
for actions whose real motives remain hidden), except that in this case
it is the events themselves, not their motives, that become “smoothed
over” in the telling. And on some level, the process occurs consciously,
although—as I’ve tried to suggest by the quotation marks around “know-
ing”—the exact degree of consciousness may be hard to determine.
Suppose that the facts appear incomprehensible, or suppose that one is
called on to reply to an accusation that provides a more “plausible”
version than what happened, as far as one knows or recalls. Such cir-
cumstances may explain why a historical witness might feel authorized
to “arrange” certain facts without consciously intending to deceive. In a
context of accusation, the accused person feels obliged to furnish a logical
version of past actions if the truth appears too illogical—or if he or she
feels that others will consider it so. Lucie Aubrac, seeing her husband
(and by extension, herself) accused by Barbie’s lawyer in 1984, wrote a
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book in which she implied that Barbie never knew him as “Aubrac.”52

Raymond Aubrac, who in 1992 told the truth unambiguously in a depo-
sition before the juge d’instruction of the second Barbie trial, could
have (and, according to a historian’s logic, should have) done the same
in his autobiography, which he was starting to write at the time. He
would thereby have “corrected” the ambiguity of Lucie’s account. In-
stead, he too opted for ambiguity, as the argument over the meaning of
some sentences in his book makes clear. And a few months after the
publication of his book, just a few weeks before the explosion of the
“Aubrac affair,” he stated totally unambiguously, to a public of lycée
students filmed by television cameras at the Center for the History of
the Resistance and Deportation, in Lyon: “Neither Vallet nor Ermelin
was recognized as Aubrac. Otherwise, all would have been lost.”53

How can one explain this blatant denial? The simplest explanation
would be that Raymond Aubrac has something to hide, because he is
guilty—this is the “counter-legend” of abjection, all too tempting and
harmful. A more complex explanation, albeit one that remained quite
unsympathetic to the witness, was offered by Cordier at the round-table:
according to this hypothesis, Raymond Aubrac told the truth in situa-
tions unknown to the public (dossiers d’instruction, which are never
published, testimony at the forgotten trial of Hardy), but wanted to “be-
queath to history” a different version (xviii). (Cordier was referring to
Raymond’s autobiography, not to the “Marche du siècle” television pro-
gram, which never came up in the discussion.) This explanation is plau-
sible, but it implies a conscious decision on Raymond Aubrac’s part to
deceive the public. And even if it were correct, it would not answer the
main question: Why was it necessary, according to Raymond Aubrac, to
make people think that Barbie didn’t know he was “Aubrac”?

In my opinion, what Raymond’s wavering testimony and outright
denial indicate is not (and certainly not necessarily) that he has some-
thing to hide, and even less that he is guilty of betraying Jean Moulin;
rather, it indicates that he labors under the same logic of plausibility and
cause and effect as the historians: “Otherwise, all would have been lost.”
Here is a case, furthermore, where personal memory falls victim to the
pressure of media celebrity. In the fall of 1996, when Raymond Aubrac
published his book, he and his wife were widely known and respected,
and had become—with their willing participation, but also by a mo-
mentum of its own—quasi-legendary figures. That was even more the
case in January 1997, only a few weeks before the release of Claude
Berri’s “heroic” film. Add to that the pressure of a live television broad-
cast, in a solemn place (museum of the Resistance and Deportation,
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once the headquarters of the Gestapo where many had been tortured),
on a solemn occasion (the theme of the program was “the duty to re-
member”). Is it surprising that, in front of a public of admiring adoles-
cents, facing a journalist whose questions were becoming more and more
pressing, the octogenerian Raymond Aubrac could not “remember” a
story that would include both the fact that Barbie knew he was Aubrac
and the fact that he was not deported? “Because if he had, all would
have been lost.” But what if reality does not follow the logic of plausi-
bility? What if reality is not coherent?

Obviously, one cannot blame historians for seeking to construct, if
not coherent stories, at least coherent explanations. Nor can one blame
individual witnesses for allowing their desire for coherence to shape
their memories. In any case, distributing blame has not been the aim of
this analysis. Serge Klarsfeld, who has studied in intense detail all of
Barbie’s activities in Lyon, offered an explanation, after the publication
of the round-table, for why Raymond Aubrac was allowed to vegetate
in Lyon until his escape in October: Barbie was absent from Lyon be-
tween mid-July and December 1943, and the Germans in Paris were
preoccupied with more important business during that time.54 Azéma,
who was present at the round-table and has written a great deal about
the affair, accepted Klarsfeld’s explanation about Barbie, but contested
his explanation regarding the Germans in Paris.55 Maybe one day it will
all make sense, at least for historians. Meanwhile, from a literary and
cultural perspective, the Aubrac affair continues to fascinate because it
points up the problematic relations between public and private memory,
and between history and fantasy, in the construction of both an indi-
vidual and a collective past.
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